ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 
1. The trial court’s instructions to the jury varied from the charging 

language of the last Amended Information as follows (CP 72): 

a. Instruction 8 (CP 87), the definition of first degree robbery, in-

cludes a firearm; 

b. Instruction 9 (CP 88), the to-convict instruction on first degree 

robbery, only includes a deadly weapon; 

c. Instruction 13 (CP 94), the definition of deadly weapon, does 

not include a firearm;  

d. Instruction 18 (CP 99), the definition of first degree burglary, 

only includes a deadly weapon; 

e. Instruction 19 (CP 100), the to-convict instruction on first de-

gree burglary, only includes a deadly weapon; 

f. Instruction 27 (CP 110), the special verdict instruction, in-

cludes both a deadly weapon and a firearm; 

g. and 

h. The charging language references a pipe as the deadly weapon 

for enhancement purposes.  (CP 72) 

(Appendices “A;” “B;” “C;” “D;” “E;” “F”) 



2. The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the 

pipe was used as deadly weapon.   

3. Defense counsel’s failure to  

a. request a lesser included instruction on second degree robbery 

constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel; and/or   

b. object to the erroneous/confusing instructions constitutes inef-

fective assistance of counsel.   

4. The trial court’s sentencing determinations are in error as to: 

a. Finding of Fact 2 pertaining to “same criminal conduct”; 

b. Finding of Fact 5 and the calculation of Nikolas Campbell’s of-

fender score; 

c. Finding of Fact 6.b. because of the miscalculation of the of-

fender score; and 

d. Conclusion of Law 1 imposing consecutive sentences on the 

first degree robbery and first degree burglary convictions.   

(CP 139; CP 170; Appendix “G”) 

5. The Judgment and Sentence 

a. contains a scrivener’s error at paragraph 2.4; and  

b. fails to set forth sufficient facts supporting the imposition of 

legal financial obligations (LFOs) and/or Mr. Campbell’s abil-

ity to pay them. 
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ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

 
 

1.   Did a variance between the charging language and the instruc-

tion on first degree robbery violate the essential elements rule under the 

Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 22? 

2.  Was inclusion of firearm language in the special verdict instruc-

tion contrary to the deadly weapon language in the enhancements set out 

in the last Amended Information?   

3. Did the trial court’s instructions misstate the law and/or were 

they so confusing as to call into question the jury’s verdicts?   

4. Did the State fail to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that a 

deadly weapon was used in the first degree robbery and/or as to the en-

hancements? 

5. Did Mr. Campbell receive effective assistance of counsel as re-

quired by the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22? 

6. Were the trial court’s sentencing determinations in compliance 

with existing statutory and case law?  

7.   Does the Judgment and Sentence need to be corrected due to 

scrivener’s errors and the trial court’s failure to determine on the record 

Mr. Campbell’s financial ability to pay LFO’s?   
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STATEMENT OF CASE 

 

 Debra Vargas and Christina Morales lived in separate apartments 

in a complex located at 1500 West 14th Avenue in Kennewick, Washing-

ton.  Roy Cochlin is their landlord.  Ms. Morales is Ms. Vargas’s niece.  

(RP 108, l. 24 to RP 109, l. 2; RP 200, ll. 9-19) 

James Stethem lived with his mother, Ms. Vargas, in Apartment B.  

On April 7, 2010 the apartment door was kicked in.  Mr. Stethem saw one 

(1) individual with what appeared to be a gun.  He saw another individual 

taking a DVD.  A laptop computer was also taken.  Their faces were cov-

ered.  They told him to turn over and he did.  (RP 123, ll. 9-12; RP 124, ll. 

8-18; RP 124, l. 20 to RP 125, l. 1; RP 125, ll. 22-23) 

Ms. Morales collects Chucky dolls.  She claims she was not home 

on April 7, 2010.  When she returned her Chucky dolls were missing and 

the apartment had been ransacked.  Her aunt’s camper van was also miss-

ing.  (RP 109, l. 20 to RP 110, l. 2; RP 112, l. 14 to RP 113, l. 3; RP 114, l. 

17 to RP 115, l. 1) 
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Mr. Cochlin, the landlord, claims that he saw Ms. Morales at her 

apartment on April 7.  He also saw Mr. Campbell and Michael Rice going 

between the Morales and Vargas apartments.  (RP 203, ll. 13-18; RP 204, 

ll. 10-12; RP 204, l. 22 to RP 205, l. 1) 

Jerami Wilson is Ms. Morales’s boyfriend.  He was at the apart-

ment on April 7.  Also present were Mr. Campbell, Mr. Rice and Cecilia 

Circo.  (RP 133, ll. 3-11; RP 135, ll. 3-13; RP 135, l. 23 to RP 136, l. 1) 

Ms. Circo is acquainted with both Mr. Campbell and Mr. Rice.  

They use drugs together.  She saw Mr. Campbell with a Chucky doll.  She 

remembers them talking about a robbery in general.  She could not recall 

any details.  Her tape recorded statement was introduced at trial as a past 

recollection recorded.  (RP 169, ll. 20-21; RP 169, l. 25 to RP 170, l. 4; RP 

170, ll. 7-21; RP 173, l. 2 to RP 174, l. 17; RP 179, ll. 6-10; RP 180, ll. 10-

14) 

Mr. Wilson recalls seeing a pipe in Mr. Rice’s back pocket.  He 

never saw a gun, but remembers Mr. Campbell admitting that he had a 

gun.  (RP 136, ll. 21-22; RP 137, ll. 6-10; RP 146, ll. 9-14) 

Officer Kelly of the Kennewick Police Department responded to a 

9-1-1 call from Ms. Vargas.  He observed that the door had been kicked 

open and that the lock was broken.  There was a footprint on the door.  He 
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found a pipe on the floor.  (RP 214, ll. 22-23; RP 216, ll. 6-13; RP 219, ll. 

1-5) 

Ms. Vargas’s van was recovered by the Portland, Oregon Police 

Department.  It was searched on April 21, 2010.  Two (2) Chucky dolls 

were found inside it.  There was also a computer belonging to Ms. Vargas.  

(RP 157, ll. 3-5; RP 158, ll. 4-6; RP 160, ll. 15-16; RP 161, ll. 9-10; RP 

162, ll. 3-5) 

Detective Davis of the Kennewick Police Department interviewed 

Mr. Campbell on April 19, 2010.  Mr. Campbell originally claimed that he 

had been in Portland for approximately two (2) to three (3) weeks prior to 

April 7.  He finally admitted that he was with Mr. Wilson, Ms. Circo and 

Mr. Rice at Ms. Morales’s apartment on April 7.  (RP 234, ll. 24-25; RP 

240, l. 23 to RP 241, l. 14; RP 241, ll. 22-23; RP 242, ll. 8-9) 

Ms. Vargas was unable to identify Mr. Campbell’s photo from a 

photo montage.  She said it doesn’t seem to be him.  Ms. Vargas died prior 

to trial and a limited portion of her 9-1-1 call was admitted following a 

CrR 3.6 motion.  (RP 270, l. 15 to RP 271, l. 8; CP 6; CP 18; CP 159) 

An Information was filed on April 22, 2010 charging Mr. Camp-

bell with first degree robbery and motor vehicle theft.  An Amended In-

formation was filed on May 13, 2010 adding a deadly weapon enhance-

ment to Count I.  (CP 1; CP 4) 
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On February 10, 2011 another Amended Information was filed 

which added a count of first degree burglary with a deadly weapon en-

hancement as well as an enhancement under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(u).  (CP 

63) 

A final Amended Information was filed on February 16, 2011.  

Count I stated that the alleged victim was Ms. Vargas.  Count III stated 

that the alleged victims were Ms. Vargas and Mr. Stethem.  The deadly 

weapon enhancement on Counts I and III was limited to the pipe.   

The trial court granted the State’s motion to consolidate Mr. 

Campbell’s and Mr. Rice’s cases for trial.  (CP 174) 

Defense counsel did not object to any of the jury instructions.  The 

jury instructions did not conform to the language of the last Amended In-

formation.  (RP 300, ll. 1-5; CP 76) 

The jury found Mr. Campbell guilty of all counts and entered a 

special verdict on both of the deadly weapon/firearm enhancements.  (CP 

115; CP 116; CP 117; CP 118; CP 119) 

Judgment and Sentence was entered on July 22, 2011.  The reason 

for the delay was a motion for new trial filed by Mr. Campbell’s new at-

torney.  The motion for new trial was denied.  (7/22/11 RP 10, ll. 2-7; CP 

176; CP 181; CP 193; CP 196) 
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At the sentencing hearing the prosecuting attorney agreed an error 

had occurred with regard to the special verdict as it relates to first degree 

burglary.  It was agreed the deadly weapon enhancement did not apply.  

(RP 355, l. 5 to RP 356, l. 18) 

The trial court imposed consecutive sentences on Counts I and III.  

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law relating to the exceptional sen-

tence were not entered until September 30, 2011.  A cost bill in the 

amount of $4,435.50 is attached to the Judgment and Sentence.  (CP 147; 

CP 170) 

Mr. Campbell filed his Notice of Appeal on August 15, 2011.  (CP 

148).   

A Court of Appeals Commissioner’s Ruling determined that Mr. 

Campbell had abandoned his appeal on June 25, 2012.  (CP 201) 

A Mandate was issued on August 3, 2012.  (CP 203) 

The Supreme Court reinstated Mr. Campbell’s appeal after he filed 

a Personal Restraint Petition.  The reinstatement order was entered on Feb-

ruary 6, 2013.  (Appendix “H”) 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 
 

A variance between the charging language of the last Amended In-

formation and the jury instructions violated the essential elements rule.  

The variance also was misleading and constituted a misstatement of the 

law in relation to the offense of first degree robbery and/or the deadly 

weapon enhancement.   

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that any 

deadly weapon was used, attempted to be used or threatened to be used.   

Mr. Campbell was denied effective assistance of counsel when his 

attorney failed to request an instruction on the lesser degree offense of se-

cond degree robbery and/or failed to object to erroneous, misleading and 

confusing instructions.   

The trial court’s conclusion that the first degree robbery and first 

degree burglary are not the “same criminal conduct” is in error.  The 

weight of authority dictates that there is a significant difference between 

the merger doctrine and “same criminal conduct.”   

No record was made of Mr. Campbell’s ability to pay LFOs.  The 

record is insufficient to support the trial court’s imposition of “special cost 

reimbursement.”   
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ARGUMENT 
 

 

I. DEADLY WEAPON 

The State specifically elected a pipe as the deadly weapon for en-

hancement purposes.  A pipe is not a deadly weapon per se.   

An item is a deadly weapon if, under the cir-
cumstances in which it is used, it is readily 
capable of causing death or substantial bodi-
ly harm.  RCW 9A.04.110(6).  Weapons can 
be per se deadly (i.e., explosives and fire-
arms), or deadly because capable of causing 
death or substantial bodily harm under the 
circumstances.  State v. Carlson, 65 Wn. 
App. 153, 158, 828 P.2d 30, review denied, 
119 Wn.2d 1022 (1992).  …  [T]he inherent 
capacity and “the circumstances in which it 
is used” determine whether the weapon is 
deadly.  …  “Circumstances” include “the 
intent and present ability of the user, the 
degree of force, the part of the body to 
which it was applied and the physical in-
juries inflicted.”  State v. Sorenson, 6 Wn. 
App. 269, 273, 492 P.2d 233 (1972) (con-
struing RCW 9.95.040) (quoting People v. 
Fisher, 234 Cal. App. 2d 189, 193, 44 Cal. 
Rptr. 302 (1965)).  Ready capability is de-
termined in relation to surrounding circum-
stances, with reference to potential substan-
tial bodily harm.  …  State v. Cobb, 22 Wn. 
App. 221, 223, 589 P.2d 297 (1978), review 
denied, 92 Wn.2d 1011 (1979) ….   
 

State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 171, 889 P.2d 948 (1995).  (Emphasis 

supplied.) 
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There is no testimony in the record as to how the pipe was used.  

The only references to the pipe are that it was in Mr. Rice’s pocket and it 

was found on the kitchen floor in the Vargas apartment.   

No testimony was presented as to how the pipe may have been 

used.   

No testimony was presented that the pipe caused any physical inju-

ries. 

No testimony was presented that any force or threat of force was 

used in connection with the pipe.   

RCW 9A.04.100(1) states:   

Every person charged with the commission 
of a crime is presumed innocent unless 
proved guilty.  No person may be convicted 
of a crime unless each element of such crime 
is proved by competent evidence beyond a 
reasonable doubt.   
 

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the pipe 

was used as a deadly weapon.  The State’s failure impacts both the ele-

ments of first degree robbery and the weapon enhancement.   

This is particularly true with regard to the offense of first degree 

robbery.  The definitional instruction of first degree robbery (Instruction 

8) included the word “firearm.”  However, the to-convict instruction (In-

struction 9) only included the term “deadly weapon.”   
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Moreover, Instructions 18 and 19, pertaining to the offense of first 

degree burglary, only used the phrase “deadly weapon.”   

Insofar as the definition of “deadly weapon” is concerned, Instruc-

tion 13 did not include the word “firearm.” 

Since no to-convict instruction included the word “firearm” the 

phrase “deadly weapon” as used in those instructions became the law of 

the case.   

The law of the case is an established doc-
trine with roots reaching back to the earliest 
days of statehood.  Under the doctrine jury 
instructions not objected to become the law 
of the case.   
 

State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998).   
 

Since no use of a “deadly weapon” was established by the State, an 

essential element of first degree robbery is lacking.  This failure by the 

State means that, at most, the crime of second degree robbery occurred.  

See:  RCW 9A.56.210(1).   

Further support for Mr. Campbell’s position is found in Personal 

Restraint of Martinez, 171 Wn.2d 354, 366, 256 P.2d 277 (2011):   

… [W]e hold that RCW 9A.04.110(6) re-
quires more than mere possession where the 
weapon in question is neither a firearm nor 
an explosive.  In accordance with the plain 
meaning of this statute, unless a dangerous 
weapon falls within the narrow category for 
deadly weapons per se, its status rests on 
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the manner in which it is used, attempted 
to be used, or threatened to be used.   
 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

Again, no evidence was presented as to the use, attempted use, or 

threatened use of the pipe.   

In the absence of such proof, RCW 9A.04.100(2) applies.  The 

statute states:  “When a crime has been proven against a person, and there 

exists a reasonable doubt of which two or more degrees he is guilty, he 

shall be convicted only of the lowest degree.”   

The State only established the commission of the offense of second 

degree robbery.   

Moreover, as to the weapon enhancement, Mr. Campbell asserts 

that State v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 755, 613 P.2d 121 (1980) controls.  

The Tongate Court held: 

[The statute] … appears to require the ap-
pearance of a deadly weapon in fact in order 
for the sentence enhancement provision to 
operate.   
 

This will be addressed in more detail as it pertains to the special 

verdict instruction (Instruction 27).   

II. INSTRUCTIONS 

A. Special Verdict 

The trial court’s instructions were not only confusing, but also er-
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roneous.  They varied significantly from the charging language of the last 

Amended Information.   

The last Amended Information references deadly weapon allega-

tions as to Counts I and III.  It relies upon RCW 9.94A.533(4).  RCW 

9.94A.533(4) provides, in part:   

The following additional times shall be add-
ed to the standard sentence range for felony 
crimes … if the offender or an accomplice 
was armed with a deadly weapon other than 
a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010 ….   
 

Instruction 27, the special verdict instruction dealing with the 

deadly weapon enhancement, included as its last sentence “A pistol, re-

volver or any other firearm is also a deadly weapon whether loaded or un-

loaded.”   

Inclusion of that sentence constitutes a substantial variance from 

the enhancement language of the last Amended Information.  Furthermore, 

it misinformed Mr. Campbell of a critical aspect of the case.   

Since the State elected to rely upon the pipe as the “deadly weap-

on,” Instruction 27 should have been confined to the first two (2) para-

graphs and the first two (2) sentences of the last paragraph.   

Additionally, as Instruction 27 pertains to the use of a deadly 

weapon, the jury’s verdict is contrary to the evidence presented in Court.  
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The State did not present any evidence that the pipe was used, intended to 

be used or threatened to be used as a club or otherwise.   

B. Other Instructions 

Instructions 8 and 9 deal with the offense of first degree robbery.  

Instruction 8 includes the word “firearm.”  Instruction 9 does not include 

the word “firearm.”   

Instruction 9 varies from the language of the last Amended Infor-

mation.  Paragraph (5) of that instruction states:  “That in the commission 

of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant, or an accom-

plice, was armed with a deadly weapon ….”   

The last Amended Information under Count I states, in part:   

… In the commission of or in immediate 
flight therefrom, the accused displayed 
what appeared to be a firearm or other 
deadly weapon, to wit:  a pipe and/or a fire-
arm …. 
 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

In State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d 488, 493, 150 P.3d 1116 (2007) 

the Court determined what is meant by the word “armed.”   

The statutes relating to weapons enhance-
ments do not define what it means to be 
armed.  ….   
 
… “[A] person is ‘armed’ if a weapon is 
easily accessible and readily available for 
use, either for offensive or defensive pur-
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poses.”  State v. Valdovinos, 122 Wn.2d 
270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993) ….  But a 
person is not armed merely by virtue of 
owning or even possessing a weapon; there 
must be some nexus between the defendant, 
the weapon, and the crime.  [Citations omit-
ted.] 
 

It is easy to see that being “armed with a deadly weapon” is signif-

icantly different than displaying what appears to be “a firearm or other 

deadly weapon.”   

The instructional error violates the “essential elements rule.”  See:  

Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 22. 

Mr. Campbell asserts that even more confusion arose based upon 

the instructions dealing with first degree burglary.  Instruction 18 uses the 

term “armed with a deadly weapon.”  Instruction 19 parallels Instruction 

18 in paragraph (3).   

Count III of the last Amended Information states, in part:  “… 

while in such building and/or in immediate flight therefrom the accused 

was armed with a pipe or firearm, a deadly weapon ….”   

No violation of the essential elements rule appears to exist insofar 

as Count III and Instructions 18 and 19. 

Nevertheless, when Instructions 13 and 27 are read together it is 

readily apparent that the State failed to establish, beyond a reasonable 

doubt, that the pipe was used as a deadly weapon.   
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The overall impact of these confusing and misleading instructions 

cannot be overemphasized.   

Mr. Campbell contends that substituting the phrase “deadly weap-

on” for the word “firearm” in the following excerpt from State v. Williams, 

147 Wn. App. 479, 484, 195 P.3d 578 (2008) substantiates his argument: 

A sentencing court may impose a firearm 
sentence enhancement only when the Infor-
mation alleges the firearm enhancement, the 
State produces evidence supporting the fire-
arm enhancement, and the fact finder returns 
a firearm enhancement special verdict.   
 

There is no way to tell whether the jury relied on the pipe or the 

firearm in support of its verdicts.  This uncertainty cannot be counte-

nanced and requires reversal and dismissal of the enhancements.   

III. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of 
counsel, a defendant must make two show-
ings:  (1) defense counsel’s representation 
was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective 
standard of reasonableness based on consid-
eration of all the circumstances; and (2) de-
fense counsel’s deficient representation 
prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a rea-
sonable probability that, except for counsel’s 
unprofessional errors, the result of the pro-
ceeding would have been different.   
 

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).   
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Mr. Campbell contends that defense counsel was ineffective when 

he failed to request a lesser included offense instruction on second degree 

robbery and failed to object to the erroneous and misleading instructions 

as discussed in the preceding portion of this brief.   

A. Inferior Degree Offense

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