### FILED

OCT 09, 2013

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

### NO. 301664-III

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

NIKOLAS F. CAMPBELL, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 10-1-00425-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

TERRY J. BLOOR, Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

### **

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

## A. ARGUMENTS REGARDING ROBBERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE

1. Defendant's argument: "A variance between the charging language of the last Amended Information and the jury instructions violated the essential elements rule." (App. brief at 9).

State's Response:

### a. There was no variance between the information and the jury instructions.

A charging document is adequate only if it includes all essential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State will not address the defendant's arguments in the exact order they were presented in the brief. However, by quoting portions of the brief, the State

elements of a crime so as to inform the defendant of the charges and to allow the defendant to prepare a defense. *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). Here, the defendant was charged in the body of the Information with Robbery in the First Degree by displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon. *See* Appendix A<sup>4</sup>. (CP 73). He was also charged in the Deadly Weapon Enhancement with being armed with a deadly weapon. (CP 73-74). The jury instructions on Robbery used the phrase "armed with a deadly weapon." (CP 88-89).

The jury instruction could have included an alternative, accusing the defendant of "being armed with a deadly weapon and/or displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." However, the fact that the alternative ("displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon") was not included in the jury instruction does not change the situation; the charging document alleged both alternatives and informed the defendant that he should prepare to defend both alternatives.

hopes to respond to all arguments presented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Amended Information filed on February 16, 2011, is attached as Appendix A.

b. Nevertheless, even accepting the defendant's argument that there was a variance between the instructions and the information, it would not result in a reversal.

### *i.* Standard on Review:

The State again emphasizes that the Information alleged both alternatives. However, if the jury had been instructed on an uncharged alternative means of committing Robbery in the First Degree, it is presumed to be prejudicial unless the State can show that the error was harmless. *State v. Bray*, 52 Wn .App. 30, 34-36, 756 P.2d 1332 (1998).

## *ii. Any Such Error Would Have Been Harmless.*

The recent case of *In re Brockie*, 86241-9, 2013 WL 5406428 (Wash. Sept. 26, 2013) is directly on point. In that case the defendant was charged by Information with committing Robbery in the First Degree by "displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon." However, the jury instructions described two alternative means for the crime: "armed with a deadly weapon or displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon."

The Court held that there was no prejudice to the defendant. In that case, the evidence was consistent that the robbery displayed what appeared to be a gun. The perpetrator did not merely possess a deadly weapon in his pocket which he did not show to a victim. Furthermore, Brockie's defense was a complete denial on any involvement in the robbery.

That is the situation here. The defendant claimed that he was totally uninvolved in the robbery. He did not claim that he committed a robbery while unarmed. Likewise, the consistent evidence was that the perpetrators were armed and displayed their arms to the victims.

The Information properly charged the defendant with both alternatives. Nevertheless, any error under the facts in this case was harmless.

2. Defendant's argument: "The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the pipe was used as a deadly weapon. The State's failure impacts both the elements of first degree robbery and the weapon enhancement." (App. brief at 11).

### State's Response:

### a. Standard on Review:

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Hosier*, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006). The reviewing court should consider "whether the totality of the evidence is sufficient to prove all the required elements." *State v. Ceglowski*, 103 Wn. App. 346, 350, 12 P.3d 160 (2000).

## b. The defendant was charged with committing robbery in the first degree by use of a pipe or firearm.

The defendant is incorrect in arguing that the jury could only find the defendant guilty if it found that he used a pipe. He was charged with committing Robbery in the First Degree by displaying a firearm or pipe: *See* Appendix A. (CP 73).

This is consistent with RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(ii), which defines Robbery in the First Degree as a robbery in which the perpetrator displays a firearm or other deadly weapon. In this case, the victims, Mrs. Vargas and Mr. Stethem, both saw the perpetrator with a firearm. (RP 124, 128). This perpetrator was probably the defendant, who told his friend, Jeramy Wilson, that he had a firearm and showed it to him. (RP 136-37).

Mrs. Vargas also saw the other perpetrator with a metal rod, or pipe. (CP 159-60).

The defendant's argument on this point is not well-taken.

3. Defendant's argument: "Since no to-convict instruction included the word 'firearm' the phrase 'deadly weapon' as used in those instructions became the law of the case." (App. brief at 12).

### State's Response:

First, the jury was instructed that "[a] pistol, revolver or any other firearm is also a deadly weapon whether loaded or unloaded." (CP 111).

Second, the jury was also instructed that a "[d]eadly weapon also means any weapon [or] device...which under the circumstances in which it is used ....or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm." (CP 94). The jury was explicitly instructed that a firearm is a deadly weapon. Nevertheless, the difference between a "deadly weapon" and a "firearm" is a distinction without a difference: the jury could certainly conclude that a firearm met the definition of "deadly weapon" under Instruction No. 13. (CP 94).

In addition, the "law of the case" doctrine is not applicable. The Court in *State v. Worl*, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) discussed this doctrine, stating:

Proper consideration of the law of the case doctrine begins with *Greene v. Rothschild*, 68 Wash.2d 1, 414 P.2d 1013 (1966), which is the "foundation case for modern analysis" of the law of the case doctrine. Philip A. Trautman, *Claim and Issue Preclusion in Civil Litigation in Washington*, 60 Wash.L.Rev. 805, 810 (1985). In *Greene*, this court held that the law of case doctrine is a discretionary rule that should not be applied when the result would be "manifest injustice":

Under the doctrine of "law of the case," as applied in this jurisdiction, the parties, the trial court, and this court are bound by the holdings of the court on a prior appeal until such time as they are "authoritatively overruled." ... Such a holding should be overruled if it lays down or tacitly applies a rule of law which is clearly erroneous, and if to apply the doctrine would work a manifest injustice to one party, whereas no corresponding injustice would result to the other party if the erroneous decision should be set aside. Greene, at 10, 414 P.2d 1013. In 1976, this court adopted RAP 2.5(c), codifying the law of the case doctrine:

*Prior Appellate Court Decision.* The appellate court may at the instance of a party review the propriety of an earlier decision of the appellate court in the same case and, where justice would best be served, decide the case on the basis of the appellate court's opinion of the law at the time of the later review.

State v. Worl, 129 Wn. 2d 416, 424, 918 P.2d 905 (1996).

4. Defendant's argument: "Since no use of a 'deadly weapon' was established by the State, an essential element of first degree robbery is lacking." (Emphasis added). (App. brief at 12).

### State's Response:

Robbery in the First Degree does not require that a defendant "use"

a deadly weapon during the commission of the crime. RCW 9A.56.200

states:

(1) A person is guilty of robbery in the first degree if:

(a) In the commission of a robbery or of immediate flight therefrom, he or she:

(i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or

(ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon;"

### RCW 9A.56.200.

WPIC 2.07 provides that, "A person is armed with a deadly weapon if, at the time of the commission of the crime, the weapon is easily accessible and readily available for offensive or defensive use." Here, there is no question that both defendants were armed, one with a gun, one with a pipe. Both defendants displayed their weapons to Mrs. Vargas. (CP 159-60). Mr. Stethem saw one defendant with a gun. (RP 124). The other perpetrator ditched the pipe in Mrs. Vargas's apartment. (RP 219). To further illustrate that "use" of a deadly weapon is not required, the Washington Supreme Court Committee on Jury Instructions regarding WPIC 2.07 states that the paragraph defining when a person is armed with a deadly weapon should not be used if a weapon was displayed during the commission of the offense.

Given how the defendants were displaying their weapons, in the light most favorable to the State, a jury could reasonably conclude that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon, either a pipe or firearm, and that either could cause death.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While the Information charges the defendant with "display" of a firearm and/or pipe, the jury instruction refers to the defendant "being armed" with a deadly weapon. (CP 73, 88-89). In either case, there was more than sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that the defendant, or his co-defendant, was armed with a firearm or pipe.

### B. ARGUMENTS REGARDING DEADLY WEAPON ENHANCEMENT REGARDING ROBBERY

- 1. Defendant's argument: "Inclusion of that sentence [that a deadly weapon also includes a firearm in instruction no. 27] constitutes a substantial variance from the enhancement language of the last Amended Information." (App. brief at 14).
  - a. First, the defendant is raising this argument for the first time on appeal, and it should be barred under RAP 2.5(a).

### State's Response:

The defendant did not object to the jury instructions at trial. On appeal, he has not addressed RAP 2.5 and has not alleged a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." As discussed below, the language of the Information informing him of the deadly weapon allegation contained the elements of that enhancement and the defendant did not suffer any prejudice from not stating "pipe *and/or firearm*." (Emphasis added.)

## b. Regarding the merits of the argument, the standard on review is a two-pronged test:

There is a two pronged test to determine the validity of a charging document challenged for the first time on appeal: "(1) Do the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so (2) can the defendant show that he ... was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused lack

of notice?" *State v. Sloan*, 149 Wn. App. 736, 205 P.3d 172 (2009). An Information which is not challenged until after the verdict has been entered is liberally construed in favor of validity. *State v. Ralph*, 85 Wn. App. 82, 930 P.2d 1235 (1997).

*i.* Regarding the first prong, the Information sufficiently informed the defendant that he was accused of being armed with a firearm.

It would have been better if the Deadly Weapon enhancement for the defendant had stated: "(the defendant) ... was armed with a deadly weapon ... to wit: a pipe and/or firearm...."

However, the following are important points:

First, the "to-wit" portion of the Deadly Weapon Allegation is surplusage. A charging information must state all the essential statutory and non-statutory elements of the crimes charged. *State v. McCarty*, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000); *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 105, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). But "surplusage" does not render an information insufficient as a charging document. RCW 10.37.056. "Where unnecessary language is included in an information, the surplus language is not an element of the crime that must be proved unless it is repeated in the jury instructions." *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 718, 107 P.3d 728 (2005) (citing *State v. Miller*, 71 Wn.2d 143, 146, 426 P.2d 986 (1967)). In *Tvedt*, the Court held that a discrepancy between the Information and the jury instructions in naming the victims was non-essential surplusage.

Here, the type of deadly weapon, whether a knife, gun, pipe, or other, is not an element. Specifying the type of deadly weapon was nonessential surplusage.

Second, the Information charging the crimes does allege the defendant was in possession of a firearm and/or a pipe. *See* Appendix A. (CP 73).

Under a liberal construction of the Information, this should have been adequate to advise the defendant he was charged with committing the robbery while armed with a pipe or firearm. The liberal construction of the Information was emphasized in *In re Benavidez*, 160 Wn. App. 165, 246 P.3d 842 (2011), where the Court held that the defendant was properly advised of the firearm enhancement, although the statutory citation in the Information was incorrect.

Third, the trials of the defendant and co-defendant, Michael Joseph Rice, were consolidated. Mr. Rice's Information mirrored the defendant's and included in the Deadly Weapon Enhancement Allegation that he was armed with a firearm or pipe. This would have put the defendant on notice that the jury could have answered "yes" to the deadly weapon enhancement if Mr. Rice was found to be in possession of a firearm.

*ii.* In addition, the defendant cannot establish the second prong of the test; he was not prejudiced.

The victim, Mrs. Vargas, told the 911 operator that one of the perpetrators had a pipe, which she described as a metal rod. (CP 159-60). A witness, Jeremy Wilson, saw one of the perpetrators with a pipe. (RP 137). The police found that pipe in Mrs. Vargas's apartment. (RP 219). The jury, therefore, could conclude that a perpetrator broke into Mrs. Vargas's apartment, was armed with a pipe, showed it to Mrs. Vargas during the robbery to intimidate her, and then left it behind so the police could not directly tie him to it.

The evidence that one perpetrator was armed with a pipe during the robbery was overwhelming.

2. Defendant's argument: "Moreover, as the weapon enhancement, Mr. Campbell asserts that State v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 755, 613 P.2d 121 (1980) controls. The Tongate Court held: [The statute] ... appears to require the appearance of a deadly weapon in fact in order for the sentence enhancement provision to operate." (App. brief at 13).

### State's Response:

The pipe was real. It was not a toy. It was not made of plastic. The jury could reasonably conclude that based on the pipe being used to intimidate the victim "from the manner in which it [was] used, ... [the pipe] may easily and readily produce death." (CP 111). Moreover, whether an item is actually a deadly weapon is a jury question. That is, whether a defendant is armed with an actual firearm or a toy is for the jury to decide. *State v. Faust*, 93 Wn. App 373, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998).

### C. ARGUMENT REGARDING BURGLARY IN THE FIRST DEGREE

1. Defendant's argument: "Mr. Campbell asserts that even more confusion arose based upon the instructions dealing with first degree burglary.

> No violation of the essential elements rule appears to exist insofar as Count III and Instructions 18 and 19. Nevertheless, when Instructions 13 and 27 are read together it is readily apparent that the State failed to establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the pipe was used as a deadly weapon." (App. brief at 16).

State's Response:

### a. Standard on Review

As stated above, evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *Hosier*, 157 Wn.2d at 8. The reviewing court should consider "whether the totality of the evidence is sufficient to prove all the required elements." *Ceglowski*, 103 Wn. App. at 350.

b. The information charged the defendant with being armed with a deadly weapon, specifically a pipe or firearm, during the burglary, and the jury had more than sufficient reason to find this element proven.

The defendant was charged in Count III with committing the Burglary while armed with a pipe or firearm. (CP 73).

Therefore, the defendant's emphasis on whether or not the manner in which the defendant or co-defendant used the pipe is inapplicable. The defendant was not charged solely with using a pipe as a deadly weapon. The defendant clearly had a firearm and flashed it to Mrs. Vargas and Mr. Stethem during the burglary and robbery to intimidate them.

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